IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

MICHAEL PETER FITZPATRICK, :

Appellant,

vs. : Case No.SC01-2759

STATE OF FLORIDA, :

Appellee. :

:

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR PASCO COUNTY STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAMES MARION MOORMAN
PUBLIC DEFENDER
TENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

ROBERT F. MOELLER Assistant Public Defender FLORIDA BAR NUMBER 0234176

Public Defender's Office Polk County Courthouse P. O. Box 9000--Drawer PD Bartow, FL 33831 (863) 534-4200

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

TOPICAL

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The record on appeal herein consists of twenty-one (21) volumes and a total of five (5) supplemental volumes, as well as a presentence investigation report that is not paginated. Only four of the supplemental volumes bear volume numbers. In this brief, references to the original record on appeal will be indicated by volume number and page number(s). References to the supplemental volumes which bear volume numbers will be indicated by "SR," followed by the volume number and page number(s). References to the supplemental volume which does not bear a volume number will be indicated by "SR," followed by the page number(s).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On February 7, 1997, a Pasco County grand jury returned a two-count indictment against Appellant, Michael Peter Fitzpatrick. (Vol. I, pp. 1-2) Count one charged premeditated murder of Laura Romines by cutting her throat with a sharp object. (Vol. I, p. 1) Count two charged sexual battery of Laura Romines with actual physical force likely to cause serious personal injury. (Vol. I, p. 1) Both offenses allegedly occurred on August 18, 1996. (Vol. I, p. 1)

This cause initially went to trial on November 27-28, 2000, but ended in a mistrial. (SR Vol. I, p. 2069-SR Vol. III, p. 2468; Vol. XIX, p. 1203)

The case was retried before a different jury beginning on March 26, 2001 with the Honorable Maynard F. Swanson, Jr. presiding. (Vol. XIII, p. 1-Vol. XXI, p. 1619) On March 30, 2001, Appellant's jury found him guilty of first-degree murder and sexual battery with great force, as charged in the indictment. (Vol. VI, pp. 1035-1036; Vol. XXI, p. 1484)

A penalty phase was held on April 5, 2001, at which the State presented evidence, while Appellant declined to present evidence in mitigation. (Vol. XXI, pp. 1498-1607) Appellant's jury returned a recommendation by a vote of ten to two that Appellant be sentenced to death. (Vol. VI, p. 1034; Vol. XXI, p. 1601) The court ordered that a comprehensive presentence investigation be done. (Vol. VI, pp. 1030, 1109-1110; Vol. XXI, pp. 1500-1501)

A <u>Spencer</u> hearing was held on September 7, 2001, at which several people spoke on Appellant's behalf. (Vol. IX, pp. 1567-1592)

On November 2, 2001, Judge Swanson imposed a sentence of death upon Appellant, finding the following aggravating circumstances: (1) Appellant was under sentence of imprisonment (conditional/control release) when the murder was committed (which the court gave "great weight"; (2) Appellant had previously been convicted of a violent felony (aggravated battery) ("moderate weight"); (3) the murder was committed while Appellant was committing an involuntary sexual battery on the victim ("little weight"); and (4) the murder was especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel ("great weight"). (Vol. VII, pp. 1162-1166; Vol. XII, pp. 2012-2016) The court considered a number of factors in mitigation, finding some to exist, and rejecting others. (Vol. VII, pp. 1167-1175; Vol. XII, pp. 2017-2025) gave "great weight" to the following circumstances: (1) Appellant's good family background (Vol. VII, p. 1169; Vol. XII, pp. 2018-2019); (2) Appellant's role as a surrogate father to his girlfriend's children (Vol. VII, pp. 1172-1173; Vol. XII, pp. 2021-2022); (3) Appellant's long-term relationships with three women showed that he was not a "sex-starved maniac[,]" and that his crime in this case seems more of an aberration than as a common course of conduct" (Vol. VII, p. 1174; Vol. XII, pp. 2022-2023); and (4) the loyalty of Appellant's family and friends showed him to be "generally a friendly, warm, considerate person." (Vol. VII, pp.

¹ Spencer v. State, 615 So.2d 688 (Fla. 1993).

1174-1175; Vol. XII, p. 2023) The court gave "moderate weight" to the following circumstances: (1) Appellant was doing well at his job (Vol. VII, p. 1170; Vol. XII, p. 2019); (2) Appellant "had a long history of alcoholism and drug addiction and was apparently making strides to combat it" (Vol. VII, pp. 1170-1171; Vol. XII, pp. 2019-2020); (3) Appellant's mental problems, including a suicide attempt in 1995, and "in 1995 a diagnosis of adjustment disorder with depressed mood and situational depression and alcohol and marijuana dependency" (Vol. VII, pp. 1171-1172; Vol. XII, pp. 2020-2021); and (4) Appellant's remorse. (Vol. VII, pp. 1173-1174; Vol. XII, p. 2022)

On December 21, 2001, Judge Swanson sentenced Appellant to 30 years in prison on the sexual battery count. (Vol. VII, pp. 1205-1209; Vol. XII, pp. 2002-2006)

This appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Guilt Phase

State's Case

In August of 1996, Stephen Kirk was living at the Water's Edge Apartments in Land O' Lakes with Barbara Simler and her two children. (Vol. XVI, pp. 641, 645) He was employed as a security guard by Wells Fargo, and was working at the Motel 6 at Fowler and I-275 from 9:00 p.m. to 5:00 a.m. (Vol. XVI, pp. 642-643) Kirk met Laura Romines at the Motel 6, where she was staying with her boyfriend, Joe Galbert. (Vol. XVI, pp. 643-644)² One night when Kirk came to work, the police were there, and he learned that Romines had been beaten up by her boyfriend, who had dropped a bed on her head, and who was later arrested for domestic battery. (Vol. XVI, pp. 644, 670) Kirk tried to get Romines into a shelter, but was unable to do so, and so he invited her to stay with him and his roommate. (Vol. XVI, pp. 644-645) It was stipulated that Romines was to have no contact with Galbert, and there would be no drugs and no excessive drinking. (Vol. XVI, pp. 645-646) Romines had gotten a job at a Farm Store. (XVI, p. 671; Vol. XVII, pp. 873-875) During the time she stayed with Kirk, he believed she had a crush on him, and she made advances toward him, but he never had sex with her, although they shared a bed. (Vol. XVI, Romines stayed with Kirk and Simler for about two or two and one-half weeks, but on August 17, she was asked to leave. (Vol. XVI, p. 646) She had

² Elsewhere in the record, Romines' boyfriend is referred to as Joseph Samuel Galbreath. (Vol. XVII, p. 876)

broken a promise she made to Simler to stop drinking, and was getting the children to lie for her. (Vol. XVI, p. 646) She was intoxicated that night; her speech was slurred and her breath stank. (Vol. XVI, p. 673) Two sheriff's deputies arrived and made calls to try to get Romines into a shelter or detox, but were unsuccessful. (Vol. XVI, pp. 646-647) She left with the deputies. (Vol. XVI, pp. 647, 674) Romines was very upset with Kirk, blaming him for being thrown out. (Vol. XVI, pp. 674-675)

Corporal Jeff Smedley of the Pasco County Sheriff's Department was one of the deputies dispatched to the Water's Edge Apartments on August 17, 1996 at approximately 6:00 p.m. in reference to an unwanted guest. (Vol. XVI, pp. 679, 682) According to Smedley, Romines did not appear to be intoxicated, although she had been drinking. (Vol. XVI, pp. 684-685) Smedley also felt that the people in the apartment were not angry with Romines, they just wanted her out of there, and that Romines was not angry with Kirk, although she was upset with her situation. (Vol. XVI, pp. 685-686)³ Smedley testified that he found an alcoholic treatment center that would allow Romines to stay there, but she did not want to go. (Vol. XVI, p. 680) Instead, Smedley drove Romines to a 7-11 store just inside the Hillsborough County line, where he dropped her off at approximately

³ Smedley wrote in his report that Romines had lived at the Waters Edge apartment for about a week. (Vol. XVI, pp. 683-684)

7:30 or 8:00 p.m. (Vol. XVI, pp. 680-681)⁴ Romines had a laundry basket and about seven or eight plastic garbage bags full of her belongings. (Vol. XVI, p. 681) Smedley then returned to Pasco County. (Vol. XVI, p. 681)

Appellant, Michael Fitzgerald, was working at Pro Pizza the night of August 17, 1996. (Vol. XVI, pp. 727-728) He had worked there for a couple of years, and was a good employee. (Vol. XVI, pp. 733, 738, 751) The night of August 17 was a busy one for Pro Pizza. (Vol. XVI, pp. 728, 738) At one point during the night, Fitzpatrick was gone on a delivery longer than usual. When he returned to the shop around 8:00, he told the owners he had picked up a young lady at a convenience store in Hillsborough County and taken her to the Sunny Palms Motel. (Vol. XVI, pp. 728, 734, 739) Later, Gene Degele, one of the owners of the business, went out to make a delivery, saw Fitzpatrick at the Sunny Palms Motel at about 9:30, and told him to get back to work, because they were getting "slammed." (Vol. XVI, pp. 728-729, 739-740, 744) Fitzpatrick left work that night at 11:45 and took a pizza with him. (XVI, p. 729)

Jessica Ann Kortepeter was at the Sunny Palms Motel when Laura Romines was dropped off by a person driving a Pro Pizza truck. (Vol. XVI, pp. 760-761) Romines had a bunch of bags with her. (Vol. XVI, pp. 763-764) Romines told Kortepeter that she (Romines) was looking for a place to stay. (Vol. XVI, p. 763) Kortepeter told Romines that a friend of hers, A. J. Howard, might have a place for her to stay

 $^{^4}$ A surveillance tape from the 7-11 showed Romines entering the store at 8:12 p.m. (Vol. XVII, p. 882)

until she got on her feet. (Vol. XVI, p. 763) Kortepeter had known Howard for 20 years. (Vol. XVI, p. 765) He had a lot of teenage women living with him at various times, and had a lot of sexual contact with the girls who lived in his house.

(Vol. XVI, p. 770) Cindy Young was present during the discussion between Kortepeter and Romines, and went across the street to call A. J. Howard. (Vol. XVI, p. 763) Howard subsequently arrived and picked up Romines. (Vol. XVI, p. 764) The Pro Pizza truck showed up again later that evening. (Vol. XVI, p. 764)

Sally Goodin, who was Jessica Kortepeter's mother, was also at the Sunny Palms that evening, and subsequently went to A. J. Howard's house. (Vol. XVI, p. 785) Goodin had dated Howard years ago, when she was 18, and Howard was "probably 55 to 60." (Vol. XVI, pp. 786-787) While Romines was at the motel, she was drunk and obnoxious, and Goodin declined to give her a ride. (Vol. XVI, p. 789) The person who was at Sunny Palms in the Pro Pizza truck later arrived at Howard's residence. (Vol. XVI, pp. 785-786) At the time of Appellant's trial, Goodin could not remember the person that was driving the truck. (Vol. XVI, p. 786) When she was shown a photopack in 1996, she could not pick out the pizza man. (Vol. XVI, p. 790)

A. J. Howard testified that it was perhaps almost 9:00 when he arrived at the Sunny Palms Motel. (Vol. XVII, p. 803) Laura Romines told him that she was "just kind of waiting on her boyfriend to come back and pick her up[,]" but she decided to go with Howard to his place. (Vol. XVII, p. 804) She had a number of plastic grocery bags with her clothes jammed in them. (Vol. XVII, p. 804) At his house,

where a birthday party was taking place, Howard introduced Romines around, and Romines put her clothes in Howard's room. (Vol. XVII, pp. 802, 806) A pizza man showed up at

Howard's house with a pizza. (Vol. XVII, p. 805) As he had just ordered a pizza, Howard asked the man how much he owed him, but the pizza man said that it was free, that it was for Laura. (Vol. XVII, pp. 805-806) Howard identified Appellant in court as the pizza man he saw at his house on August 17 of 1996. (Vol. XVII, pp. 806-808) The man and Laura Romines talked, then they left together "arm and arm." (Vol. XVII, pp. 806, 808) Romines' bags were put into the man's pickup truck. (Vol. XVII, p. 808) It was close to midnight. (Vol. XVII, p. 809)

Melanie Yarborough was one of those present at A. J. Howard's residence on the night of August 17. (Vol. XVII, 839-840) She was about 21 years old at the time. (Vol. XVII, p. 851) There was a party going on; there was a party every night at Howard's house for people her age. (Vol. XVII, p. 850-851) Yarborough identified Appellant at trial as the Pro Pizza man who arrived at Howard's house in a truck that night wearing a Pro Pizza shirt and hat, although she acknowledged that he looked "a little different" at trial than he did that August night. (Vol. XVII, pp. 844-846) She testified that the man left with Laura Romines about 11:00, although it could have been a little later. (Vol. XVII, p. 846) Yarborough said that she did not

drink, and so was not drinking that night, but Romines was drinking beer. (Vol. XVII, pp. 851-852)⁵

In the early morning hours of August 18, 1996, Kyle Lester Hughes, who worked in the Corrections Bureau of the Pasco County Sheriff's Office, was returning with some friends to Pasco County after having been at a bar in Tampa when they observed a nude woman (who was later identified as Laura Romines) standing on the side of Parkway Boulevard. (Vol. XV, pp. 448-449, 451, 459-460, 467) covered in blood and her throat had been slit. (Vol. XV, pp. 449, The woman "was real scared" when Hughes and the others first approached her, and "appeared to be in shock," but calmed down somewhat after Hughes showed her his identification and let her know that he worked for the sheriff's department. (Vol. XV, pp. 449-450) When Hughes asked Laura Romines who did that to her, she gave the name "Steve." (Vol. XV, p. 450) When Hughes asked her where Steve lived, she said, "Water's Edge." (Vol. XV, pp. 450, 455-456) members of Hughes' party drove to a Majik Market and called 911. (Vol. XV, pp. 449-451, 468-469)

Lieutenant paramedic William Arnold of Pasco County Fire Rescue was dispatched to Parkway Boulevard and arrived at the scene at 3:46 a.m. (Vol. XV, pp. 482-483) He observed a female with a considerable

⁵ According to Detective Stacie Morrison of the Pasco County Sheriff's Office, when she interviewed Melanie Yarborough in Georgia on October 10, 1996, Yarborough said that she had been consuming alcohol on the evening of August 17, but did not feel she was intoxicated. (Vol. XVIII, pp. 1072-1073) Yarborough identified a picture in a photopack as depicting the person who picked up Laura Romines at A. J. Howard's house that night. (Vol. XVII, pp. 846-848; Vol. XVIII, pp. 1070-1071)

ground. (Vol. XV, pp. 483-484) Her neck was basically cut from one side to the other. (Vol. XV, p. 484) She was in and out of consciousness. (Vol. XV, pp. 484-487) Arnold asked her who had done that to her, and got the name, "Steve." (Vol. XV, p. 486) Arnold asked her repeatedly if it was "Steve" who cut her throat, and she shook her head yes repeatedly. (Vol. XV, p. 490) Arnold also got from her that her assailant was a white male, approximately 30 years old, who lived at Water's Edge Apartments. (Vol. XV, pp. 491-492) Arnold felt that the woman had been stabbed relatively close to the time he was treating her due to the blood loss. (Vol. XV, pp. 493) His report indicated that she had possibly arrived at the location in a vehicle. (Vol. XV, pp. 492-493)

amount of blood around the neck area and a lot of blood on the

When Deputy William Tierney of the Pasco County Sheriff's Office arrived on the scene at approximately 4:00 a.m., Laura Romines was in the ambulance. (Vol. XV, p. 476) She whispered to Lieutenant Arnold that "Steve" did this to her, and that he lived at Water's Edge Apartments. (Vol. XV, pp. 476-477, 479-480) Romines also indicated that she was cut at the location where she was found, and that she arrived at the location in a vehicle. (Vol. XV, p. 480)

Rita Hall, an advanced registered nurse practitioner, came into contact with Laura Romines at St. Joseph's Hospital on the morning of August 18, 1996. (Vol. XV, pp. 522, 524) Romines was in the recovery room, having just come from surgery. (Vol. XV, p. 525) Romines could not relate what happened to her because she was unconscious, and so Hall obtained from an officer what information he had. (Vol. XV, pp.

526-528) Hall examined Romines, but was not able to look at her back. (Vol. XV, p. 528) There was a blood-covered garment around Romines' waist near her breasts which Hall initially thought might be a sports bra, but which turned out to be panties. (Vol. XV, pp. 525-526) Hall cut this off and put it into evidence. (Vol. XV, p. 525) Hall also took fingernail scrapings. (Vol. XV, pp. 532-533, 551) There was puffiness around Romines' head. (Vol. XV, p. 529) Because of the surgery, Hall was not able to see Romines' neck. (Vol. XV, p. 529) Romines' breasts were a deep purple color, and there was a penetrating wound in the breast area that Hall could not identify if it was a stab wound or a bite mark. (Vol. XV, p. 529) There were some red areas and bruises on Romines' arms, and dried blood in numerous places. (Vol. XV, p. 529) was a round area below the knee that may have been a cigarette burn. (Vol. XV, pp. 529-530, 552-553) Romines' legs were covered with scratches, but there were no injuries to the bottoms of her feet, although she did have a fungus infection. (Vol. XV, p. 530) appeared to Hall that Romines had had a case of a sexually transmitted disease called "crabs," which showed up as "[1]ittle, brown, grayish, circular things, " and her pubic hair had been shaved off, probably by Romines herself. (Vol. XV, pp. 529, 539-540, 553) used swabs to collect fluid from Romines' vaginal vault and anus, both of which exhibited increased color indicative of pressure from something penetrating. (Vol. XV, pp. 531-532) However, the trauma, redness that Hall observed could have been caused by Romines falling on something, although this was not likely. (Vol. XV, p. 550)

redness that Hall saw did not match what she usually saw in a forced entry. (Vol. XV, p. 350) When the prosecutor asked if Hall had an opinion as to whether Romines "was violently sexually assaulted," Hall responded: "I can say that she definitely had sex with someone, and the sex was a penis in the vagina and a penis in the anus." (Vol. XV, p. 537)6 Hall found no vaginal lacerations and could not tell if the sex was forced or not. (Vol. XV, pp. 547-548) In about 50 percent of cases of forcible intercourse, Hall did not find any redness or signs of penetration. (Vol. XV, p. 556) Hall opined that the sex had occurred "within a fairly close proximity of time, like an hour or two at the max," because of the amount of fluid still present in Romines. (Vol. XV, pp. 535, 546) Hall had known sperm to be found as much as five days after intercourse, although that was "the far extreme." (Vol. XV, p. In the 24 to 72 hour range, one would usually find sperm heads and very few tails, because the tails disappear first. (Vol. XV, p. 545)

Detective Peter Weekes and Detective Jeffrey Bousquet went to St. Joseph's Hospital on August 18, 1996 to attempt to interview Laura Romines in the ICU. (Vol. XV, pp. 566, 592-593) At that time, the suspect was Stephen Kirk, and Bousquet went to the hospital in order to obtain incriminating evidence against Kirk. (Vol. XV, p. 593) Romines' responses to specific questions were in the form of nods or shaking of the head, as she was intubated and was not able to

 $^{^{\}rm 6}$ Later in her testimony, Hall indicated that an object about the size of a penis could have been used. (Vol. XV, p. 549)

talk. (Vol. XV, pp. 566-567, 594) She was in and out of consciousness during the very brief interview as a result of being medicated. (Vol. XV, pp. 575, 601-602) When asked if she knew who did this to her, Romines initially shook her head "yes," then shook her head, "no." (Vol. XV, pp. 568-569, 595) When asked if Steven had done it, she shook her head, "no." (Vol. XV, pp. 569, 595) When she was asked if she got there by vehicle, Romines shook her head, "yes." (Vol. XV, pp. 569, 596) The detectives were unable to ascertain the color of the vehicle from their questioning of Romines, but she indicated that it was a two-door vehicle. (Vol XV, pp. 569-570, 596) The interview was stopped when Romines began "getting agitated." (Vol. XV, p. 570)

Laura Romines died on September 5, 1996. (Vol. XVII, p. 912)

Lee Robert Miller, Associate Medical Examiner for Hillsborough

County, conducted an autopsy on September 5. (Vol. XVI, p. 630) The main thing he noted was that Romines had "two incised or stab, wounds, slash wounds of the neck." (Vol. XVI, p. 632) One of them had penetrated the larynx, and the other had penetrated the esophagus. (Vol. XVI, p. 632) The neck wounds had been surgically repaired, and were almost healed by the time Miller saw Romines. (Vol. XVI, pp. 632, 639) Miller also noted some hemorrhaging between the skull and brain caused by a blunt object that might not have happened

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