IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

MICHAEL PETER FITZPATRICK,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. SC01-2759 Lower Tribunal No. 97-482

CFAES

STATE OF FLORIDA

Appellee.

_____/

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SIXTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR PASCO COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE

CHARLES J. CRIST, JR. ATTORNEY GENERAL

KIMBERLY NOLEN HOPKINS

Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 0986682 Concourse Center 4 3507 E. Frontage Road, Suite 200 Tampa, Florida 33607-7013 (813) 287-7910 (813) 281-5501 Facsimile

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

found the evidence to be irrelevant, immaterial and inconsequential.¹⁰ Where the DNA expert testified that the DNA evidence could have been under the victim's fingernail for an indeterminate length of time, (XIX/1238-1239), the evidence is irrelevant.

More importantly, any error resulting from the exclusion of this evidence must be deemed harmless. <u>See e.g.</u>, <u>LaMarca v.</u> <u>State</u>, 785 So. 2d 1209 (Fla.) (erroneous exclusion of relevant evidence harmless), <u>cert. denied</u>, 534 U.S. 925 (2001). In closing, Appellant argued extensively to the jury the possibility that an unknown person was the true perpetrator. Appellant argued that four individuals named Steve lived in Water's Edge apartments, some of which were never accounted for, (XX/1382-1383), that the victim held up two fingers when being questioned in the hospital, possibly indicating there were two attackers, (XX/1393), and that A.J. Howard was a suspect based upon Cindy Young's testimony (XX/1407). Under these circumstances, any error stemming from the exclusion of the

¹⁰Although the State objected on chain of custody grounds, the trial court allowed the defense to pursue the appropriate witnesses to overcome this objection. (XIX/1157). The fact that Appellant did not do so, is not an error attributable to the State or the trial court. More importantly, the ultimate ruling excluding this evidence was on relevancy grounds. Thus, the chain of custody objection is irrelevant for purposes of appellate review.

fingernail scraping evidence was harmless.

<u>Videotape of Appellant in 7-Eleven store</u>

Next, Appellant urges error resulted from the trial court's refusal to allow several witnesses to point out Appellant on the surveillance videotape taken at the 7-Eleven store where Appellant picked up the victim before taking her to the Sunny Palms Motel.

Again, any possible error would be harmless. Numerous witnesses identified Appellant on the videotape for the jury. (XVI/747-749; XVIII/1049; XX/1255). Moreover, during closing, defense counsel played the tape and stopped it to point out Appellant and to highlight what he was wearing in the video. (XX/1404, 1424-1426). As such, the exclusion of the testimony could not have affected the outcome where nothing precluded Appellant from arguing that he was not wearing the Pro Pizza uniform on the night in question and no one, including the Appellant, disputed that Appellant was at the 7-Eleven that evening or even that he picked up the victim.

ISSUE VIII

THE TRIAL COURT FAILED TO COMMIT ANY ERRORS WHICH COULD HAVE RENDERED APPELLANT'S SENTENCE OF DEATH UNRELIABLE. (AS RESTATED BY APPELLEE).

Appellant raises a number of challenges to the imposition of the death penalty. None of these arguments merit reversal. <u>Grand theft conviction and hearsay regarding details of</u> <u>aggravated battery conviction</u>

First, Appellant complains that the trial court improperly relied on a previous conviction for grand theft as an aggravating circumstance. As explained by the State at the penalty phase, the grand theft conviction was admitted to prove that Appellant was on parole at the time of the instant murder.¹¹ (XXI/1520). Thus, the grand theft conviction was not admitted as proof of a prior violent felony as Appellant maintains.

In any event, any error which could have resulted from the admission of the grand theft conviction would be harmless. Where Appellant had a previous conviction for aggravated battery, any error in relying on the grand theft as a possible prior violent felony for purposes of aggravation would be harmless. <u>See Spann v. State</u>, 28 Fla. L. Weekly S293 (Fla.

¹¹This evidence properly established the aggravating circumstance the "[t]he capital felony was committed by a person previously convicted of a felony and under sentence of imprisonment or placed on community control or on felony probation," pursuant to § 921.141(5)(a), Fla. Stat.

April 3, 2003), citing <u>Mahn v. State</u>, 714 So. 2d 391, 399 (Fla. 1998).

Appellant also urges error resulting from his probation officer, Kranz's testimony concerning the details of the aggravated battery. According to Appellant, this testimony was inadmissible hearsay. However, "[t]his Court has held that it is appropriate in the penalty phase of a capital trial to introduce testimony concerning the details of any prior felony conviction involving the use or threat of violence to the person rather than the bare admission of the conviction." See Rhodes <u>v. State</u>, 547 So. 2d 1201 (Fla. 1989) (citations omitted). Τn fact, Appellant concedes this information could have been admitted through either the victim or the investigating officer's testimony. As such, Kranz's testimony was properly admitted as was the officer's testimony concerning the details of the prior violent felony in Rhodes.

Nonetheless, Appellant argues that he could not rebut Kranz's testimony because Kranz had no first-hand knowledge of the crime. In support of this assertion Appellant relies on <u>Rhodes</u> and <u>Gardner v. State</u>, 480 So. 2d 91 (Fla. 1985). Both cases are easily distinguishable.

In <u>Rhodes</u>, in addition to the officer's testimony concerning the prior violent felony, a tape recording of the victim

describing the prior violent felony was improperly admitted. The finding of error was premised on the fact that Rhodes had no opportunity to cross-examine the victim. <u>See Rhodes</u>, 547 So. 2d 1201, 1204. Similarly, in <u>Gardner</u>, error was found where a police officer testified at the sentencing phase about the accomplice's statements incriminating the defendant. Such testimony was inadmissible where the accomplice did not testify at trial, and defendant could not confront or cross-examine her on the statement. <u>See Gardner</u>, 480 So. 2d 91, 94. No such error occurred in the instant case where Appellant was free to cross-examine Kranz. Moreover, Appellant provides no authority for the proposition that the parole officer could not testify to the details of the convictions upon which the parole was based.

Alternatively, any error resulting from the testimony supporting the aggravators involving prior violent felonies and the fact that Appellant was on parole at the time of the murder must be deemed harmless. The trial court also found two other aggravators: that Appellant was engaged in a sexual battery and heinous, atrocious, and cruel. These two aggravators sufficiently outweighed the minor non-statutory mitigation found by the trial court. As such, even without the two challenged aggravators, Appellant's death sentence was appropriate.

State's presentation of mitigation evidence

As was his right, Appellant declined to present mitigation evidence in his penalty phase. Pursuant to <u>Muhammad v. State</u>, 782 So. 2d 343, 364 (Fla.), cert. denied, 534 U.S. 836 (2001), the trial court ordered the State to put on mitigation evidence. In Muhammad, 782 So. 2d 343, 364, this Court held that, in the rare cases where the defendant waives mitigation, а comprehensive PSI must be prepared, including information such as previous mental health problems (including hospitalizations), school records, and relevant family background. Such a PSI was prepared in the instant case. Additionally, the trial court could require the State to place in the record all evidence in its possession of a mitigating nature such as school records, military records, and medical records. See Muhammad, 782 So. 2d at 364. Thus, the trial court's ruling requiring the State to present mitigation on Appellant's behalf comported with the dictates of Muhammad.

Appellant's reliance on <u>Grim v. State</u>, 27 Fla. L. Weekly S805 (Fla. October 3, 2002), is misplaced. <u>Grim</u> deals only with the question of whether a trial court must appoint special counsel to present mitigating evidence to the penalty phase jury notwithstanding the defendant's objection. While the <u>Grim</u> decision notes that a trial court should not be required to appoint special counsel, it does not go so far as to hold that

it constitutes error to do so, or to allow the State to present mitigation as specifically permitted in <u>Muhammad</u>. As such, where the decision as to how available mitigation evidence should be presented to the jury is purely discretionary on the part of the trial court, no error occurred.

Presentence investigation

Appellant complains that his presentence investigation (PSI) was incomplete because it did not contain his military records. However, the trial court noted that several requests were made from the appropriate federal agencies for these records, but no response was received. (XII/2011). While <u>Muhammad</u> does require a "comprehensive" PSI, the absence of military records in this case fails to create error. This is especially true in view of the comprehensive nature of the information that was contained in the PSI.

Appellant's PSI is literally hundreds of pages long. It includes Department of Corrections files, any other pre- and post-sentence investigations, prison records, including mental health issues, school records and family information.

Additionally, although no military records were included in the PSI (simply due to the federal authorities failure to respond to repeated requests), the trial court did discuss Appellant's military service in the sentencing order.

Specifically, the trial court weighed the non-statutory mitigation resulting from Appellant's military service as follows, "Defendant did serve in the military but was given a general discharge under honorable conditions, resulting from his use of hashish while serving in Germany. This factor is established but given no weight because of the reason for his discharge." (VII/1171). Given the trial court's consideration of Appellant's military record, along with the fact that Appellant has offered no indication that any relevant facts of his military service were neglected, no error occurred.

Aggravator involving fact that homicide was committed during a sexual battery

Appellant complains that the evidence was insufficient to support sexual battery as an aggravating circumstance. However, as discussed above in Issue II.B, the evidence sufficiently supported the count of sexual battery so as to allow the trial court to submit it as an aggravator.

<u>Proportionality</u>

While Appellant raises no challenge to the proportionality of his death sentence, the State provides the following in aid of this Court's independent obligation to review the record for proportionality purposes. Here, the aggravators included that Appellant was under a sentence of imprisonment at the time of the murder, that Appellant had a prior violent felony, that the murder was committed while Appellant was engaged in sexual battery, and that the murder was heinous, atrocious and cruel. In contrast, no statutory mitigation was found and the nonstatutory mitigation was mostly given little or no weight. Under these circumstances, Appellant's sentence is proportional. See Grim, 27 Fla. L. Weekly S805 (death sentence proportional; defendant was under sentence of imprisonment, had prior convictions for violent felonies, and was engaged in the commission of a sexual battery), citing <u>Darling v. State</u>, 808 So. 2d 145 (Fla.) (finding death sentence proportional where murder was committed while defendant was engaged in the commission of the crime of armed sexual battery, defendant had been previously convicted of felony involving the use or threat of violence to the person, and record did not support a finding of immaturity or significant mental deficiency), cert. denied, ____ U.S. ___, 123 S. Ct. 190 (2002); Bryant v. State, 785 So. 2d 422 (Fla.), cert. denied, 534 U.S. 1025 (2001) (finding the sentence of death proportional where three aggravators of prior convictions for violent felonies, murder committed while engaged in the commission of a robbery, and avoidance of a lawful arrest or effecting an escape from custody outweighed the nonstatutory mitigator of remorse); Pope v. State, 679 So. 2d 710 (Fla. 1996) (holding death penalty proportional where two aggravating

factors of murder committed for pecuniary gain and prior violent felony outweighed two statutory mitigating circumstances of commission while under influence of extreme mental or emotional disturbance and impaired capacity to appreciate criminality of conduct and several nonstatutory mitigating circumstances), <u>cert. denied</u>, 519 U.S. 1123 (1997); <u>Melton v. State</u>, 638 So. 2d 927 (Fla.) (holding death penalty proportional where two aggravating factors of murder committed for pecuniary gain and prior violent felony outweighed some nonstatutory mitigation), <u>cert. denied</u>, 513 U.S. 971 (1994); <u>Heath v. State</u>, 648 So. 2d 660 (Fla. 1994) (affirming defendant's death sentence based on presence of two aggravating factors of prior violent felony and murder committed during course of robbery, despite the existence of the statutory mitigator of extreme mental or emotional disturbance), <u>cert. denied</u>, 515 U.S. 1162 (1995).

ISSUE IX

THE FLORIDA SUPREME COURT HAS REPEATEDLY HELD THAT THE DECISION IN <u>RING V. ARIZONA</u> IS INAPPLICABLE TO FLORIDA'S CAPITAL SENTENCING STATUTE; THUS, NO ERROR OCCURRED. (AS RESTATED BY APPELLEE).

Appellant next relies upon Ring v. Arizona, 536 U.S. 584 (2002), to challenge the constitutionality of Florida's capital sentencing scheme. However, this Court has recognized that the statutory maximum for first degree murder in Florida is death, and has repeatedly rejected claims similar to those raised herein. See Porter v. Crosby, 28 Fla. L. Weekly S33, 34 (January 9, 2003) ("we have repeatedly held that maximum penalty under the statute is death and have rejected the other Apprendi arguments [that aggravators read to be charged in the indictment, submitted to jury and individually found by unanimous jury]"); see Cox v. State, 819 So. 2d 705 (Fla. 2002), <u>cert. denied</u>, ____ U.S. ___, 123 S. Ct. 889 (2003); <u>Conahan v.</u> State, 28 Fla. L. Weekly S70a (January 16, 2003); Spencer v. State, 28 Fla. L. Weekly S35 (January 9, 2003); Fotopoulos v. State, 27 Fla. L. Weekly S1 (December 19, 2002); Bruno v. Moore, 27 Fla. L. Weekly S1026 (December 5, 2002); Bottoson v. State, 813 So. 2d 31, 36, cert. denied, 536 U.S. 962 (2002); Hertz v. <u>State</u>, 803 So. 2d 629, 648 (Fla. 2001), <u>cert. denied</u>, 536 U.S. 963 (2002); Looney v. State, 803 So. 2d 656, 675 (Fla. 2001),

<u>cert. denied</u>, 536 U.S. 966 (2002); <u>Brown v. Moore</u>, 800 So. 2d 223, 224-225 (Fla. 2001); <u>Mann v. Moore</u>, 794 So. 2d 595, 599 (Fla. 2001), <u>cert. denied</u>, 536 U.S. 962 (2002); <u>Mills v. Moore</u>, 786 So. 2d 532, 536-38 (Fla.), <u>cert. denied</u>, 532 U.S. 1015 (2001). As such, no error occurred.

Moreover, Appellant failed to raise this issue below. Therefore, any claim of error based on <u>Ring</u> is procedurally barred. In view of this procedural bar, Appellant attempts to frame his constitutional challenge as fundamental error. However, allegations involving <u>Ring</u> and/or <u>Apprendi</u> failed to constitute fundamental error.

In <u>Barnes v. State</u>, 794 So. 2d 590 (Fla. 2001), this Court found an alleged <u>Apprendi</u> error had not been preserved for appellate review. The United States Supreme Court has also held that an <u>Apprendi</u> claim is not plain error. <u>United States v.</u> <u>Cotton</u>, 535 U.S. 625 (2002) (holding an indictment's failure to include the quantity of drugs was an <u>Apprendi</u> error but it did not seriously affect fairness, integrity, or public reputation of judicial proceedings, and thus did not rise to level of plain error). These cases confirm that any possible constitutional violation under <u>Apprendi</u> is not "fundamental error" warranting judicial review of an unpreserved claim.

Even if Apprendi error could be deemed fundamental in some

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